RECEIVED

Jun 23 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2024-001088

The School of Hope Christian
Academy, Jacqueline McKie
Burden, and Eugene Burden,
Sr., APPELLANTS,

vs.

South Carolina Department of
Social Services,
RESPONDENT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Duncan and Heydary Law, PLLC.
W. Michael Duncan (SC Bar # 0001162)
2411 Pineview Drive
Greensboro, North Carolina 27407
(803) 315-4500
Mike.duncan@duncanandheydarylalaw.com
Attorney for Appellants

June 23, 2026

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO DEFENDANT UNDER THE LAW OF THE CASE DOCTRINE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs/Appellants The School of Hope Christian Academy (School of Hope), Jacqueline McKie Burden and Eugene Burden filed an action in August 2019 against Defendant/Respondent South Carolina Department of Social Services (“the Department”) and two employees of the Department, Dyeretta Fashion and Mary Abney Young. The Plaintiffs alleged a cause of action against the Department for breach of contract. Plaintiffs also alleged a cause of action for defamation against the Department and employee Ms. Young and a cause of action for civil conspiracy against the Department and employees Ms. Young and Ms. Fashion.

The School of Hope is a charitable corporation organized under the provisions of Section 501 © (3) of the United States Code. The School of Hope operated a feeding program for individuals (primarily children) throughout the State of South Carolina. The feeding program was funded through a Federal grant that was under the umbrella of the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) and administered in South Carolina by the South Carolina Department of Social Services. This feeding program was known as the Child and Adult Care Food Program (CACFP). Jacqueline McKie Burden was the founder and Chief Executive Officer of the School of Hope. Eugene Burden was the Board Chairman of the School of Hope. Mr. and Mrs. Burden became husband and wife in February 2020.

The Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss in response to the Plaintiffs’ Complaint.

During the time the Motion was pending and during the delay caused by the COVID pandemic, the parties reached a partial resolution of the case. The Department made a payment to the Plaintiffs and the individual Defendants were dismissed from the case with prejudice. In addition, the civil conspiracy cause of action was dismissed leaving the breach of contract cause of action and defamation cause of action against the Department. This partial resolution was reached in June 2020. During the pandemic, Plaintiffs' initial counsel, J. Lewis Cromer, limited his active practice of law and stepped back from handling the case. Attorney Cromer's office remained in the case following Attorney Cromer's retirement. Due to the pandemic and the retirement of Attorney Cromer, this case moved slowly. In July 2021, the Plaintiffs moved to strike the case from the active roster pursuant to Rule 40 (j), SCRCP. The Department consented to the removal of the case and then further consented to restoring the case with the current case number in July 2022. Just after the case was restored, the Cromer Law Firm withdrew as counsel. Plaintiffs then hired the undersigned counsel to represent them in the case.

In May 2023, the Department moved for summary judgment. A hearing was held on the Motion via WebEx on January 22, 2024. The Circuit Court issued an Order granting summary judgment on June 5, 2024(R. pp. 1-15). Plaintiffs then filed this appeal. Plaintiffs are asking this Court to reverse the grant of summary judgment as material issues of fact exist in this lawsuit. Plaintiffs seek the opportunity to litigate the material facts before a jury of twelve citizens of Richland County. It has been a difficult path to feed hungry children and Plaintiffs simply ask this Court to apply substance over form and allow Plaintiffs to proceed with their lawsuit against the Department.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same

standard as the circuit court judge under Rule 56 ©, SCRPC. *Bovain v. Canal Ins.*, 383 S.C. 100, 105, 678 S.E.2d 422, 424 (2009). Summary judgment is proper if, viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. *Id.*

FACTS

Jacqueline McKie Burden has a heart for serving children. That heart for service led to her founding the School of Hope. The School of Hope is a charitable corporation organized under the provisions of Section 501 © (3) of the United States Code. The School of Hope operated a feeding program for individuals (primarily children) throughout the State of South Carolina. As noted previously, the CACFP feeding program was funded through a Federal grant that was under the umbrella of the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) and administered in South Carolina by the South Carolina Department of Social Services. The Order on appeal in this case references a lawsuit that was filed by the Plaintiffs against the South Carolina Department of Education that is on appeal to this Court (Case #2023-000500). At certain periods of time, the USDA's feeding program in South Carolina was administered by the Department of Education rather than the Department of Social Services. Specifically, the Summer Food Service Program (SFSP) was a USDA program which was administered by the South Carolina Department of Education. Significantly, the Plaintiffs' mission throughout the operation of the feeding program was to make sure that children were fed throughout South Carolina no matter which State agency was administering the Federal program.

The School of Hope first became a sponsor in the feeding program in the year 2012 when the USDA program was administered in South Carolina by the South Carolina Department of Social Services. The School of Hope was a model sponsor and operated

efficiently for several years. The good work that was being done by the School of Hope was recognized by the USDA and the Department of Social Services. As noted in the Complaint, the Department supposedly had computer software issues beginning in the fall of 2017 which caused delays in the payment of claims through the CACFP (see paragraphs 10-13 of the Complaint). The Department referred to the software issues as glitches. These “glitches” caused significant financial problems for the School of Hope while the Department tried to resolve the matters. The Department’s primary stated reason for terminating the Plaintiffs from the CACFP program was concern about financial solvency. The Department cited a \$446,772.12 Confession of Judgment to The Merchants Company, a food distributor, in support of that position. It seems particularly unfair for the State agency responsible for administering the CACFP to withhold the payments and then penalize the School of Hope for not having funds to pay vendors. The irony is that children were being fed by the School of Hope despite the Department’s inability to process CACFP payments. The School of Hope was able to continue its mission for a while despite the lack of funding through the Department. The facts that gave rise to the lawsuit were that the Department’s bureaucracy interfered with the processing of payments to sponsors such as The School of Hope. The bureaucratic red tape led to many sponsors leaving the CACFP.

The two Orders (R. pp. 55-64 and R. pp. 94-104) issued by the Administrative Law Court which upheld the findings made by the Department’s hearing officers were heavily relied upon by the Circuit Court in granting the Department’s Motion for Summary Judgment. Plaintiffs respectfully submit that the “fair hearings” to determine whether the Plaintiffs had in fact violated the rules and policies of the CACFP were anything but fair. Both hearings were presided over by employees of the Department at a building owned

by the Department. The Administrative Law Court determined that there was substantial evidence presented such that the findings of the Department's hearing officers should be upheld. The Plaintiffs again respectfully submit that they exhausted their administrative remedies by appealing the hearing officers' findings to the Administrative Law Court and receiving a ruling on both Orders (R. pp. 55-64 and R. pp. 94-104). The Appellants then sought redress in the form of a jury trial in order to have their day in Court. The School of Hope certainly lived up to the spirit of the law in feeding children across South Carolina as was demonstrated by the testimony provided at the administrative hearings. Throughout the various administrative quagmires that the Plaintiffs have had to navigate, there has been no question that children were being fed. The disqualification of the Plaintiffs from the CACFP and the SFSP are sad commentaries on the operation of the USDA feeding programs in South Carolina.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN SHE APPLIED THE LAW OF THE CASE DOCTRINE TO MATTERS THAT WERE NOT ADJUDICATED BY THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT.

The Plaintiffs/Appellants brought this action after hearing officers had ruled against them at administrative hearings. After this action was filed, the South Carolina Administrative Law Court issued an Order dated October 4, 2019 (R. pp. 55-64), affirming the denial of certain claims submitted by the Plaintiffs for payment. Then, on October 11, 2019, the Administrative Law Court issued an Order (R. pp. 94-104) affirming the termination of the Plaintiffs from the CACFP. The Circuit Court Judge relied on the law of the case doctrine in reaching her decision granting summary judgment to the Defendant. The Circuit Court stated that "an unappealed ruling is the law of the case" (R. p. 7) citing

Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013).

The law of the case doctrine applies to an order or ruling which finally determines a substantial right. *Id.* Certainly, the Circuit Court Judge stated the law of the case doctrine as described by the South Carolina Supreme Court. However, the Circuit Court erred in the application of the doctrine. Here, Plaintiffs Jacqueline Burden and Eugene Burden alleged defamation claims against the Department of Social Services. As with the prior Orders in *Shirley's Iron Works*, the defamation claims were not addressed by either of the Administrative Law Court's Orders (R. pp. 55-64 and R. pp. 94-104). "We also note that pleadings are to be liberally construed, and the purpose of raising mode of trial issues at the earliest opportunity is to place the opposing party on notice of the issues at stake in the case." *Gates at Williams-Brice Condo. Ass'n v. DDC Constr., Inc.*, 418 S.C. 282, 792 S.E.2d 240 (Ct. App. 2016). The Circuit Court's Order (R. pp. 1-15) is based on a determination that both causes of action in the Complaint are addressed in the Administrative Law Judge's Orders (R. pp. 55-64 and R. pp. 94-104). The Circuit Court Judge erred in determining that the claims of Plaintiffs and the damages sought by them arose primarily from their contractual claim. In actuality, the most significant and lasting damage to Mr. Burden and Mrs. Burden was through the tort claim for defamation. Contrary to the Department's argument and the Circuit Court's findings in its Order, the tort claim of defamation was not addressed in either Order issued by the Administrative Law Court.

Summary judgment is a drastic remedy to be invoked cautiously and must be denied if (Plaintiffs) demonstrate a scintilla of evidence in support of their claims. *Gibson v. Epting*, 426 S.C. 346, 827 S.E.2d 178 (Ct.App. 2019). This Court went on in *Gibson* to say that a "scintilla" of evidence is a perceptible amount. *Id.* This Court further elaborated

in *Gibson* citing old authority that there still must be a verifiable spark, not something conjured by shadows. *Bethea v. Floyd*, 177 S.C. 521, 529, 181 S.E. 721, 724 (1935). ("Scintilla' means, according to 56 C. J. 863, 'a gleam,' 'a glimmer,' 'a spark,' 'the least particle,' 'the smallest trace.'"); *Crosby v. Seaboard Air Line Ry.*, 81 S.C. 24, 31–32, 61 S.E. 1064, 1067 (1908). ("[A] scintilla of evidence is any material evidence which, taken as true, would tend to establish the issue in the mind of a reasonable juror.").

Again, the Circuit Court cited the law but misapplied it to the material facts presented by the Burdens as to the defamation claim. There is certainly a trace of material evidence presented against the Defendant to withstand summary judgment. The School of Hope and the Burdens were investigated by the FBI for well over a year before the School of Hope's records were returned in February 2020 and some semblance of order was restored to the lives of Mr. and Mrs. Burden and to the School of Hope. Appellants urge this Court to examine the two Orders of the Administrative Law Court (R. pp. 55-64 and R. pp. 94-104) and determine that neither Order extends to the defamation claims filed on behalf of Mr. and Mrs. Burden.

The problem for the Circuit Judge here is that the issues alleged in the defamation cause of action against the South Carolina Department of Social Services were NOT litigated in the administrative matter. The Circuit Court attempts to include the defamation issue in her ruling by determining that any statements made by the Department were necessarily true. However, that determination is negated by the dropping of the FBI's investigation against the School of Hope and the return of its records in February 2020.

As set forth in their Complaint, the Plaintiffs were substantially damaged by the actions of the Department. Both Mr. Burden and Mrs. Burden had their reputations damaged by the false accusations of wrongdoing that resulted in a lengthy FBI

investigation that was ultimately closed. Eugene Burden serves as a minister/pastor in the Lower Richland community. His reputation has suffered due to false statements made against him. Mrs. Jacqueline Burden has been a stalwart presence in the Midlands community serving children. However, the false defamatory statements made by the Defendant have damaged her reputation also. She seeks the opportunity to litigate the defamation claim and to restore her reputation.

Appellants further submit that their breach of contract claim against the Department has also not been foreclosed by the Administrative Law Judge's Orders (R. pp. 55-64 and R. pp. 94-104). The losses that stemmed from the Department's failure to abide by the terms of its contract extend beyond the claims that were addressed in the October 4, 2019, Order (claims for January-March 2018) (R. pp. 55-64). Appellants Mr. and Mrs. Burden provided deposition testimony regarding the losses incurred by the Department's withholding of payments. In addition, the Burdens testified regarding their consequential damages suffered due to the Department's delay in paying claims (R. pp. 105-123). The Department's failure to follow its own rules and the USDA guidelines was not addressed in either of the Administrative Law Judge's Orders. The October 11, 2019, Order (R. pp. 94-104) did not deal with the claims for reimbursement at all which was a significant part of the Plaintiffs' cause of action for breach of contract. Therefore, the law of the case doctrine does not apply to the Plaintiffs/Appellants' cause of action for breach of contract against the Department and the Circuit Court's grant of summary judgment on that cause of action should also be reversed.

CONCLUSION

The Circuit Court's granting of summary judgment was contrary to the standard set

forth in Rule 56, ©, SCRCP. For the reasons set forth above, Appellants respectfully ask this Court to reverse the Circuit Court's ruling and remand the case for trial.