RECEIVED

Aug 15 2025

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001088

The School of Hope Christian Academy, Jacqueline McKie,
and Eugene Burden, Sr.,.....Appellants,

v.

South Carolina Department of Social Services,..... Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES

Vordman Carlisle Traywick, III (102123)
Sarah C. Frierson (104643)
ROBINSON GRAY STEPP & LAFFITTE, LLC
2151 Pickens Street, Suite 500
Post Office Box 11449
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 929-1400
ltraywick@robinsongray.com

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

ARGUMENT

The Court should affirm the circuit court’s sound order granting summary judgment to DSS because Appellants failed to appeal ALC Orders I and II, which included adverse and dispositive findings that barred their breach of contract and defamation claims. And because Appellants presented no evidence to survive summary judgment, the Court would not be applying “form over substance,” Appellants’ Br. at 2, by affirming the circuit court.

I. The two-issue rule bars Appellants’ challenge to the circuit court’s order.

The circuit court found Appellants’ breach of contract and defamation claims against DSS were barred by the law-of-the-case, collateral estoppel, and res judicata doctrines. *See* (Summ. J. Order at 7) (“Because [Appellants] waived their right to challenge Orders I and II, [Appellants’] breach of contract claim is barred by the law of the case, collateral estoppel, and res judicata.”); (Summ. J. Order at 12) (“Thus, the law of the case, collateral estoppel, and res judicata bar [Appellants’] defamation claim.”).

In their brief, however, Appellants challenge only the circuit court's ruling on law of the case. They do not address the circuit court's rulings as to collateral estoppel and res judicata. Appellants' appeal therefore fails under the two-issue rule. *See Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 328, 730 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2012) ("Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case." (quoting *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010))). So the Court should affirm without further consideration.

Even so, the Court can affirm on the merits too. "[C]ollateral estoppel prevents the relitigation of issues . . . necessarily determined in a former proceeding regardless of whether the identity of the causes of action in successive lawsuits are the same." *Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 385 S.C. 550, 556, 684 S.E.2d 779, 783 (Ct. App. 2009); *see also Pampu v. Wingo*, Op. No. 6112 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 11, 2025) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 21 at 14).

Under the related but slightly different doctrine of res judicata, later actions are also barred when brought "by the same parties when the claims arise out of the same transaction or occurrence that was the subject of a prior action between those parties." *Plum Creek Dev. Co. v. City of Conway*, 334 S.C. 30, 34, 512 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1999). Res judicata applies when there is "(1) identity of the parties; (2) identity of the subject matter; and (3) adjudication of the issue in the former suit." *Judy v. Judy*, 393 S.C. 160, 167, 712 S.E.2d 408, 412 (2011) (citation omitted).

Here, the ALC necessarily determined Appellants breached their contract with DSS by failing to comply with the duties imposed on them by the contract and federal regulations. *See infra* Section II. The ALC also made factual findings that established the statements Appellants allege to be defamatory were in fact true. *See infra* Section II. Thus, these issues were previously

litigated and necessarily determined against Appellants in the ALC Orders. Further, the identity of parties are identical, and Appellants' claims directly involve and arise out of DSS's termination of their participation in the CACFP for failure to comply with federal law and denial of their reimbursement claims.

In short, the circuit court properly relied on collateral estoppel and res judicata in granting summary judgment to DSS because the ALC (and before that, the DSS hearing officer) necessarily decided these issues, its rulings were unappealed and final, and they bar Appellants' claims.

II. The circuit court correctly granted summary judgment for DSS on Appellants' breach of contract and defamation claims because they are barred by the law of the case.

In all events, the circuit court properly granted summary judgment to DSS on Appellants' breach of contract and defamation claims based on the law of the case.

As the circuit court found, the ALC Orders presented lengthy and thorough analyses of School of Hope's noncompliance with the contract and federal regulations, affirming DSS's ability to terminate the contract and their participation in the CACFP. (Summ. J. Order at 7). Yet Appellants failed to appeal ALC Orders I and II to our appellate courts. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380 ("A party who has exhausted all administrative remedies available within the agency and who is aggrieved by a final decision in a contested case is entitled to judicial review pursuant to this article and Article 1."). The unappealed findings in ALC Orders I and II therefore became and remain the law of the case. *See Shirley Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) ("An unappealed ruling is the law of the case."). Appellants waived their right to challenge those findings. *See Parker v. Parker*, 313 S.C. 482, 487, 443 S.E.2d 388, 391 (1994) ("Waiver is a voluntary and intentional abandonment or relinquishment of a known right.").

Appellants breach of contract claim is based on the unfounded allegation that DSS breached its now-terminated contract with Appellants by refusing to pay their January through

March 2018 reimbursement claims.¹ (Pls.’ Compl. at 4–5). As the circuit court noted, that claim necessarily rests on “the notion that [Appellants] ‘fully performed’ their duties under the contract ‘in accordance with all of the requirements and conditions thereof.’” (Summ. J. Order at 8). But the ALC Orders expressly rejected that claim.

Specifically, ALC Order I explained DOE’s “unappealed final agency decision terminating the School from the SFSP” was sufficient evidence on which DSS could base its termination of Appellants’ contract for participation in the CACFP. (ALC Order I at 6–7). And ALC Order II found DSS was entitled to terminate Appellants’ agreement for participation in the CACFP because “substantial evidence exist[ed] . . . [to show] the School was lacking in internal controls and effective management to insure accountability.” (ALC Order at 8). Both ALC Orders upheld DSS’s termination of their contract for participation in the CACFP. The circuit court correctly found these unappealed rulings were the law of the case and barred Appellants from relitigating the same issues here through a breach of contract claim. (Summ. J. Order at 7–10).

For similar reasons, Appellants’ defamation claim fails. To start, the circuit court did not find “both causes of action in the Complaint [were] addressed in the Administrative Law Judge’s

¹ Although Appellants contend their breach of contract claim “extend[ed] beyond the claims that were addressed in the October 4, 2019, Order (claims for January-March 2018),” they presented no evidence of that—or any reimbursement claims or denials—to the circuit court. Nor did they argue DSS “failed to follow its own rules and the USDA guidelines.” Appellants’ Br. at 8. And DSS respectfully objects to Appellants’ belated attempt to inject “deposition testimony,” Appellants’ Br. at 8, into the Court’s consideration or the record on appeal that they failed to present below. *See* Rule 210(c), SCACR. In any event, the circuit court found Appellants “failed to exhaust their administrative remedies on the denial or payment of any other 2018 reimbursement claims” because they “never pursued those administrative remedies to challenge partial payments or denials of their April, May, August, or September 2018 reimbursement claims.” (Summ. J. Order at 10–11). Appellants did not challenge that ruling and abandoned any argument on that front. *See, e.g., First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) (noting an appellant abandons an issue when he fails to “provide arguments or supporting authority” in his initial brief); *Fields v. Melrose Ltd. P’ship*, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439, S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App. 1993) (stating one “may not use the reply brief to argue issues not argued in his brief in chief”).

Orders.” (Appellants’ Br. at 6). Rather, it expressly held Appellants’ defamation claim was barred because they could not relitigate, through a defamation claim, their “mismanagement and failures to comply with federal regulations while participating in the CACFP,” which “were extensively litigated and resulted in adverse rulings against them by the ALC.” (Summ. J. Order at 11). After all, “[t]he law of the case applies both to those issues explicitly decided and *to those issues which were necessarily decided in the former case.*” *Argoe v. Three Rivers Behavioral Health, LLC*, 419 S.C. 459, 464, 799 S.E.2d 73, 75 (Ct. App. 2017) (emphasis added) (citation omitted).

As the circuit court concluded, the factual findings in the ALC Orders established the purported false and defamatory statements DSS (or Young) allegedly made were in fact true. (Summ. J. Order at 12). Given that truth is an absolute defense to a defamation claim, *Ross v. Columbia Newspapers, Inc.*, 266 S.C. 75, 80, 221 S.E.2d 770, 772 (1976), the circuit court held DSS was entitled to judgment as a matter of law because Appellants failed to appeal those adverse findings in the ALC Orders.² (Summ. J. Order at 12–13). Notably, as the circuit court acknowledged, another circuit court “previously found the same statements alleged to be defamatory [in this case] were in fact true as they related to [Appellants’] former dealings and contract with DOE.” (Summ. J. Order at 13). That order granting summary judgment to DOE—which addressed nearly identical claims against it—is also pending on appeal in this Court. *See Sch. of Hope v. S.C. Dep’t of Educ.*, App. Case No. 2023-000500.

Still, Appellants claim they presented a “scintilla” of evidence to survive summary judgment. Appellants’ Br. at 6–7. For one, a scintilla is insufficient to defeat summary judgment.

² Appellants contend the truth of the statements were “negated by the dropping of the FBI’s investigation against the School of Hope and the return of its records in February 2020.” Appellants’ Br. at 7. Even if this were true, Appellants presented no evidence of this to circuit court. “Arguments of counsel [] are not evidence.” *Bowers v. Bowers*, 304 S.C. 65, 68, 403 S.E.2d 127, 129 (Ct. App. 1991).

Kitchen Planners, LLC, 440 S.C. at 463, 892 S.E.2d at 301. For another, Appellants “presented no evidence at the hearing that DSS—or any of its agents or employees—made any statements, much less any false statements, about them. Rather, counsel for [Appellants] simply stated that he believed there was a genuine issue of material fact.” (Summ. J. Order at 12–13). Even now, they refer only to their complaint to argue the circuit court erred. *See* Appellants’ Br. at 7–8. Of course, as the circuit court found, “[t]hat is insufficient.” (*Id.*); *see also* Rule 56(e), SCRCP (“an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading:”).

The Court should thus reject Appellants’ belated efforts to conjure an issue of material fact. *See First Sav. Bank*, 314 S.C. at 363, 444 S.E.2d at 514; *Fields*, 312 S.C. at 106, 439 S.E.2d at 285. Instead, the Court should find the circuit court correctly granted summary judgment to DSS.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the Court should affirm the circuit court’s order granting summary judgment for DSS.